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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

For the year ended 31 December 2021

#

OnePath Life Limited is a Company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered office and 

principal place of business is:

118 Mount Street

North Sydney

NSW 2060

A description of the nature of the Company's operations and its principal activities is included in the Directors' Report on 

pages 1 - 3.

The annual report was authorised for issue by the directors on 23 March 2022. The directors have the power to amend and 

reissue the report.



CORPORATE INFORMATION

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

There were no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the year.

RESULTS

CHANGE IN STATE OF AFFAIRS

DIVIDENDS AND CAPITAL INJECTION

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

There were no dividends on ordinary shares paid during the year (2020: Nil). 

A capital injection of $30,000,000 was made from OnePath Life Australia Holdings Pty Limited to the Company during the

year (2020: $95,000,000). In return, the Company issued 30,000,000 ordinary shares (2020: 95,000,000 ordinary shares). 

EVENTS SINCE THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

There have been no significant events from 31 December 2021 to the date of signing this report.

As part of the acquisition of the Company by the Zurich Group, the Company is expected to complete a statutory asset

transfer under Part 9 of the Life Insurance Act 1995 to Zurich Australia limited in the second half of 2022 subject to

regulatory and court approvals.

Other than the above, the directors do not make any reference to likely developments and expected results at this time, apart

from comments made elsewhere in this report, as such references could be prejudicial to the interests of policyholders and

shareholders. Accordingly, this information has not been included in this report.

In the directors opinion, there have been no significant changes in the state of the Company's affairs during the financial

year.

ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

The directors present their report together with the financial statements of OnePath Life Limited ("the Company") for the

year ended 31 December 2021 and the independent auditor's report thereon. The information is provided in conformity with

the Corporations Act 2001.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

DIRECTORS' REPORT

OnePath Life Limited is a company limited by shares that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The immediate parent

entity is OnePath Life Australia Holdings Pty Limited. The parent entity in Australia is Zurich Financial Services Australia

Limited ("ZFSA"). The ultimate parent entity is Zurich Insurance Company Limited ("Zurich Group") which is incorporated

in Switzerland.

The principal activities of the Company during the year were the issuance of life insurance policies, funds management and

the administration of superannuation products.

The Company had a profit after tax of $44,569,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: loss after tax of

$8,045,000). This was predominantly driven by lower death and disability claims during the year and the positive movement

in net insurance contract liabilities due to repricing and favourable persistency experience in retail products.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

DIRECTORS' REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

DIRECTORS

Paul Bedbrook (Chairman) (appointed 31 May 2019)

Gabrielle Trainor (appointed 7 January 2016)

Gavin Pearce (appointed 31 August 2011, resigned 28 May 2021)

Geoffrey Summerhayes (appointed 17 January 2022)

John Howell (appointed 31 May 2019, resigned 12 April 2021)

John Mulcahy (appointed 1 January 2020)

Justin Delaney (appointed 1 December 2019)

Nicolette Rubinsztein (appointed 1 April 2017)

Tulsi Naidu (appointed 1 January 2022)

The secretaries of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

Cathy Manolios (appointed 31 May 2019)

Joong Harrison      (appointed 17 April 2008)

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

The directors of the Company at any time during the year up to the date of this report are:

Zurich Australia & New Zealand established a local sustainability working group in 2021 in order to develop its own local

strategy, while taking advantage of the strong support and lead from the Zurich Group. The first phase of the strategy has

been to embed our foundations, which included activities such as establishing sustainability pages on both our intranet and

external website, exceeding the targeted reduction of our operational emissions and benchmarking the carbon impact of our

investments, as well as reviewing our current suite of sustainable products.

As part of our local sustainability strategy we are aiming to engage and educate our customers and employees about

sustainability and empower them to join us in our action against climate change. As part of this, we will be piloting a local

reforestation project within our Life business that will lead to the regeneration of ecosystems and their native tree species in

Australia. 

Whilst the Company has assessed that there are no significant environmental regulations that apply to it, the Company is part

of the Zurich Group which has the ambition to become one of the world’s most environmentally responsible and impactful

businesses in the world. 

Ernst & Young Australia (EY) replaces PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia in office in accordance with section 327 of the

Corporations Act 2001. The auditor's independence declaration, as required under section 307C of the Corporation Act 2001,

is set out on page 4 and forms part of the Directors' report for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Zurich Group has intensified its focus on the UN Global Business Ambition Pledge to limit global temperature rise to 1.5°C.

Zurich Group has been embedding sustainability into every fibre of the Company and has been operating as a carbon-neutral

business since 2014. In 2020, Zurich Group has become one of the first large institutional investors to prioritize the goals –

rather than the monetary amount. The Dow Jones Sustainability Index (DJSI) named Zurich Group as No. 1 in the insurance

industry for improving scores across all three components of the ranking: governance and economic, environmental, and

social. This is a sign that Zurich Group’s long-term efforts are paying off. 
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

DIRECTORS' REPORT

DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS' INDEMNITY

Insurance of Officers

Agreements to Indemnify

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY

DIRECTORS' INTEREST AND SHARE OPTION

ROUNDING

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

P J Bedbrook N L Rubinsztein

Chairman Director

Sydney, 23 March 2022

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument

2016/191, relating to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the directors’ report. Amounts in the directors’ report have been

rounded off in accordance with the instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar. 

Other than the indemnity deed between the parent company and current and former directors of the Company, the Company

and any related body corporate has not made any agreement to indemnify any current or former officer or auditor (as

relevant) of the Company from 1 January 2021 to the date of this report.

ZFSA have entered into an indemnity deed with current and former directors (as relevant) of the Company. A director who

has entered into an indemnity deed with the respective parent company is indemnified, subject to the terms and conditions of

the deed, for all liabilities including costs, damages and expenses incurred in his or her capacity as a director of the

Company, to the extent permitted by law.

The Company's Constitution permits the Company to indemnify the directors and officers of the Company to the extent

permitted by law. It is also the policy of ZFSA, as the Australian parent company, that its employees should be protected

from any liability for acting in the course of their employment legally, within the parent company's policies and provided

they act in good faith.

No options over unissued shares or interest in the Company were granted during or since the end of the financial year and

there were no options outstanding at the date of this report.

The Directors' and Officers' Liability Insurance policy provides cover for directors and certain other officers of the Company

against certain personal liabilities which they may incur in the performance of their duties as directors and officers, where

those directors and officers acted in good faith. The insurance grants indemnity against liabilities permitted to be indemnified

by the Company under the Corporations Act 2001. In accordance with common commercial practice, the insurance policy

prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability insured against and the amount of the premium.

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf

of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility

on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings.

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under section 237 of

the Corporations Act 2001.

KPMG was the sole auditor of the Company for the financial years ended 30 September 2012 and 2011 respectively.
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

Ernst & Young 
200 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia 
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001 

 Tel: +61 2 9248 5555 
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959 
ey.com/au 

 

Auditor’s independence declaration to the directors of OnePath Life Limited 

 

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of OnePath Life Limited for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2021, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit;  

b. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit; and 

c. No non-audit services provided that contravene any applicable code of professional conduct in 
relation to the audit. 

 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
 
 
 
 
 
David Jewell 
Partner 
23 March 2022 

 



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 2020

Note $'000 $'000

Insurance premium revenue 1,495,994 1,471,320 

Outward reinsurance expense (689,500) (654,164)

Net insurance premium revenue 9(a) 806,494 817,156 

Fees for management services rendered 13,606 15,833 
Investment revenue 9(b) 136,912 139,220 

Total other income 150,518 155,053 

Claims expense 12(a) (1,017,264) (1,083,270)

Reinsurance recoveries 503,692 581,347 

Net claims expense (513,572) (501,923)

Change in investment contract liabilities 10(a) (106,092) (55,482)

Change in insurance contract liabilities 11(a) (7,825) (44,137)

Change in insurance contract liabilities ceded 11(b) 184,793 37,125 

Change in unvested policyholder benefits 11(d) (92) 1,391

Net movement in policy liabilities 70,784 (61,103)

Commission expenses 12(b) (181,480) (184,399)

Administration expenses 12(c) (246,280) (231,867)

Total operating expenses (427,760) (416,266)

Income/(loss) before income tax 86,464 (7,083)

Income tax expense 14(a) (41,895) (962)

Profit/(loss) for the year 44,569 (8,045)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) - - 

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax - -

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 44,569 (8,045)

ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial

statements.
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AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 2020

Note $'000 $'000

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 21(a) 508,229 583,811 

Trade and other receivables 15 477,669 533,691 

Financial assets 16 4,011,613 4,088,152 

Insurance contract liabilities ceded 11(b) 425,212 240,419 

Net deferred tax asset 14(c) 181,968 196,046

Total assets 5,604,691 5,642,119 

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 18 540,736 555,543 

Provisions 19 56,649 71,955 

Investment contract liabilities 10(a) 1,390,907 1,480,708 

Gross insurance contract liabilities 11(a) 2,323,951 2,316,126 

Unvested policyholder benefits 11(d) 39,429 39,337 

Total liabilities 4,351,672 4,463,669 

Net assets 1,253,019 1,178,450 

Equity

Share capital 20 1,344,409 1,314,409

Retained earnings (91,390) (135,959)

Total equity 1,253,019 1,178,450 

ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the

financial statements.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Share 

Capital

Retained 

Earnings Total

$'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 January 2020 1,219,409 (127,914) 1,091,495

Loss for the year - (8,045) (8,045)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year - - -

Total comprehensive loss for the year - (8,045) (8,045)

Issue of share capital 95,000 - 95,000

Dividends - - -

Balance at 31 December 2020 1,314,409 (135,959) 1,178,450

Balance at 1 January 2021 1,314,409 (135,959) 1,178,450

Profit for the year - 44,569 44,569

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year - - -

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year - 44,569 44,569

Issue of share capital 30,000 - 30,000

Dividends - - -

Balance at 31 December 2021 1,344,409 (91,390) 1,253,019

ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial

statements.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 2020

Note $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Premiums net of reinsurance expense and deposits received 866,579 850,076 

Policy and withdrawal payments net of reinsurance recoveries (741,371) (743,693)

Investment income 174,537 153,748 

Expense payments and other operating outflows (265,269) (292,979)

Fees and commissions paid (181,480) (184,399)

Payment (to) / from head tax entity 2,012 61,973 

Net cash flows used in operating activities 21(b) (144,992) (155,274)

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of financial assets 2,656,071 633,510 

Acquisition of financial assets (2,616,661) (329,324)

Net cash flows from investing activities 39,410 304,186 

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares 30,000 95,000 

Dividends paid - - 

Net cash flows used in financing activities 30,000 95,000 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (75,582) 243,912 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 583,811 339,899 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 21(a) 508,229 583,811 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company is a for-profit entity.

A. Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance

(b) Use of estimates, judgement and assumptions

(c) Basis of measurement

(d) Changes in accounting policies

OnePath Life Limited ("the Company") is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The address of the

Company's registered office is 118 Mount Street, North Sydney, New South Wales, 2060, Australia. The financial report of the

Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 comprises solely the Company.

The financial statements of the Company are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with

Australian Accounting Standards, including Australian Interpretations adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board

("AASB") and the Corporations Act 2001. 

The financial information has been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis except for certain assets and liabilities as

described in the accounting policies below. 

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to

exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of

judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note

2.

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) are the Standards and Interpretations adopted by the International Accounting

Standards Board (“IASB”). IFRS forms the basis of AASBs and Interpretations issued by the AASB. The Company’s application of

AASBs and Interpretations ensures that the financial statements of the Company comply with IFRS.

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 were authorised for issue in accordance with the

resolution of the directors on 23 March 2022.

Discussion of these critical accounting treatments, which include complex or subjective decisions or assessments are covered in note

2. Such estimates may require revision in future periods.

There have been no new or revised Australian Accounting Standards and Australian Interpretations that have been applied by the

Company for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

A. Basis of preparation (continued)

(e) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

AASB 9 Financial Instruments ("AASB 9")

AASB 17 Insurance Contracts ("AASB 17")

•

AASB 17 will apply to the Company from 1 January 2023. AASB 17 will apply to all insurance business and introduces a 'general

model' and ‘variable fee approach’ for recognition and measurement of insurance contracts. The first applicable reporting period for

the Company will be the year ending on 31 December 2023, with comparatives restated on a AASB 17 basis for the year ending 31

December 2022.

Whilst AASB 17 does not change the economics of the insurance business, the standard will impact the Company’s pattern of profit

emergence mostly through discounting, risk adjustments, contractual service margin and onerous contracts. The Company’s capital

requirements will also be impacted once the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) standards are finalised. AASB 17

will be applied full retrospectively, unless this is impracticable for certain groups of contracts. Where it is impracticable to fully

retrospectively apply AASB 17, a modified retrospective or fair value approach is adopted.

The following accounting standards are available for early adoption but have not been applied by the Company in these financial

statements:

The AASB addresses the classification, measurement and de-recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities, introduces new

rules for hedge accounting and a new impairment model for financial assets. This standard became effective from 1 January 2018,

however in October 2016, the AASB published an amendment to AASB 4 Insurance Contracts which provides an option of

temporary exemption from AASB 9 for entities that meet certain requirements (applied at the reporting entity level). 

The Company has assessed the applicability of the exemption and concluded that it meets the necessary requirements. AASB 4

(including the amendments) has been superseded by the new insurance contracts standard AASB 17 Insurance Contracts . 

Accordingly, the temporary exemption is expected to cease to be applicable when the new insurance standard becomes effective on

1 January 2023, and as such, AASB 9 will be adopted together with AASB 17 on the latter’s effective date.

AASB 17 Insurance Contracts was adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board in July 2017 and subsequently amended

in July 2020. 

The relevant key areas of consideration under AASB 17 are set out below and where possible the current proposed approach has

been detailed:  

Portfolios of contracts (with similar risks which are managed together) require disaggregation into those that are onerous, no

significant possibility of becoming onerous and all other, as well as annual cohorts. This will result in an increase in the

number of portfolios and cohorts under AASB 17 compared to AASB 1038 Life Insurance Contracts. For onerous contracts,

where the present value of fulfilment cash flows exceeds the carrying amount of the contractual service margin of a portfolio,

the loss component will be recognised in the insurance service result in profit and loss. The full impact of the Company’s

onerous contracts for local reporting is still being determined with the aim to complete this in the second quarter of 2022.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

A. Basis of preparation (continued)

(e) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued)

AASB 17 Insurance Contracts ("AASB 17") (continued)

•

•

•

•

•

The Company performs impact assessments through the use of ‘parallel runs’ on an AASB 17 basis, which is an iterative process for

analysing any implementation gap, redefining approach and re-running updated processes to reduce the gap. This will be continued

in 2022 to ensure the Company continues to assess the impact of the new requirements and emerging industry guidance on financial

statements. 

The standard requires substantial changes in presentation of the financial statements and disclosures by introducing new balance

sheet and income statement line items and increasing disclosure requirements compared with existing reporting. Market

developments also continue to be monitored in order to assess the impact of evolving interpretations and other changes. 

With the impact of the onerous contracts not yet known, methodology to determine both the contract boundaries and discount rates

utilised not yet finalised as well as the ongoing work on refinement of the AASB 17 transition calculation, the financial impact of

adopting AASB 17 cannot be reasonably estimated at the date of this report. The Company intends to disclose the potential financial

impact of adopting AASB 17 once it is practical to provide a reliable estimate. 

AASB 17 requires the estimate future cash flows to be discounted to reflect the time value of money and financial risks related

to these cash flows but does not prescribe a methodology for determining the discount rates used. For the in-force insurance

and reinsurance contracts, the Company will take the option as stated in AASB 17 to disaggregate the (re-)insurance finance

income or expense between profit or loss and other comprehensive income (OCI) in shareholder’s equity. Under this option,

the unwind of discount in profit or loss under the general model is based on discount rates at the date of initial recognition of

the group of insurance contracts. The difference between the current discount rates and the discount rates at the date of initial

recognition for valuation purposes is presented in OCI. The methodology to determine discount rate is currently being

reviewed with the aim to finalise in the second quarter of 2022.

There are also changes to what can be deferred in ‘insurance acquisition cash flows’ as defined in AASB 17. These will result

in a decrease in the total acquisition cost to be amortised. ‘Assets for insurance acquisition cash flows’ will be recognised as

part of the insurance contract liabilities representing acquisition cash flows incurred before the related group of insurance

contracts is recognised. 

The contract boundary, which is the period over which profit is recognised, is determined by the ability to compel the

policyholder to pay premiums or the substantive obligation to provide coverage/services. While the Company has performed

an initial assessment of the applicable contract boundaries for each of the Company’s products, further review of the

determined contract boundaries is ongoing with the aim to finalise in the second quarter of 2022.

Reinsurance contracts and the associated assets will be recognised and measured separately to the gross insurance contract

liability and may have different contract boundaries; The Company has assessed all its reinsurance contracts and is expected to 

apply the general model on these reinsurance contracts.

Risk adjustments are introduced for non-financial risk and is a separate component of the insurance liability covering

uncertainties in the amount and timing of future cash flows. The risk adjustments will be calculated using the Zurich Group

methodology, which requires a confidence level method. This will result in an increase in gross insurance contract liabilities

and an increase in reinsurance contract assets.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

A. Basis of preparation (continued)

(f) Rounding

(g) Comparatives

(h) Functional and presentation currency

B. Life insurance business

(a) Principles underlying conduct of the life insurance business

The insurance contract business relates to the transfer of significant insurance risks from the policyholder to compensate the

policyholder if a specified uncertain future event adversely affects the policyholder. The compensation, referred to as insured

benefits, is payable on death, or on the occurrence of a contingency dependent on the termination or continuance of human life, or

on the occurrence of injury or disability caused by accident or illness, and the financial risk of the occurrence of the event which

crystallises the payment of the insured benefit is borne by the Company. 

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in

which the entity operates (the functional currency).

The Company’s financial statements are presented in Australian dollars (“AUD”), which is the Company’s functional and

presentation currency.

Certain amounts in the comparative information have been reclassified to conform to current period financial statement

presentations. 

The Company is registered under the Life Insurance Act 1995 ("Life Act").

The life insurance operations of the Company are conducted within separate statutory funds, as required by the Life Act, and are

reported in aggregate with the shareholder's funds in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity,

Statement of Financial Position and Cash Flow Statement of the Company.

Under AASB 1038 Life Insurance Contracts , the financial statements must include all assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and

equity, irrespective of whether they are designated as relating to shareholders or policyholders. Therefore the financial statements

comprise total (combined) statutory and shareholder's funds.

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191,

relating to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the financial statements. Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded off in

accordance with the instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar. 

The life insurance operations consist of insurance contract and life investment contract businesses.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

B. Life insurance business (continued)

(a) Principles underlying conduct of the life insurance business (continued)

(b) Investment contract liabilities

(c) Insurance contract liabilities

Profit arising from policies is calculated as the excess of premiums and investment earnings less claims, operating expenses and the

amortisation of acquisition costs that will be incurred over the estimated life of the policies. The deferral and amortisation of life

insurance contract acquisition costs is discussed in note 1B(h). The profit is systematically recognised over the estimated time period 

the contract will remain in force.

Insurance contract liabilities are determined using either a projection or an accumulation method. Using a projection method,

expected policy cash flows are projected into the future. The liability is determined as the net present value of the expected cash

flows plus unearned future profits discounted using a risk free rate. The assumptions utilised in determining the policy liability are

based on the best estimates about the future. An accumulation method is used where the policy liability is calculated retrospectively.

The liability is based on an unearned premium reserve, less an explicit allowance for deferred acquisition costs, and a reserve for

incurred but not reported claims. 

Participating policyholder benefits, both vested and unvested, are treated as expenses when incurred and liabilities until paid. The

participating business result which relates to policyholders is expensed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The remaining

balance is allocated to the shareholders. All profits and losses from non-participating business are allocated to the shareholders.

Assets and liabilities held in Life Insurance Funds are subject to the distribution and transfer restrictions and other requirements of

the Life Act.

Provisions for liabilities under investment contracts are measured at fair value. The provision consists of a deposit component, being

a financial instrument, which is recognised as an increase in investment contract liabilities and an investment management services

element.

Profits for insurance contracts are brought to account on a Margin on Services ("MoS") basis in accordance with Prudential

Standard LPS 340 Valuation of Policy Liabilities , as issued by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority ("APRA") under the

Life Act. Under MoS, profit is recognised as premiums are received and services are provided to policyholders. When premiums are

received but the service has not been provided, the profit is deferred. Losses are expensed when identified.

Consistent with the principle of deferring unearned profit is the requirement to defer expenditure associated with the deferred profit.

MoS permits costs associated with the acquisition of policies to be charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the

period that the policy will generate profits via the policy liability calculation. Costs may only be deferred, however, to the extent that

a contract within a related product group is expected to be profitable.

For investment-linked products, the life investment contract liability is linked to the performance and value of the assets that back

them and is determined as the fair value of those assets after tax. For term annuities policies, the liability is determined as the net

present value of the expected policy cash flows subject to a minimum of current surrender value.

The investment contract business relates to wealth management products in which the Company issues a contract where the resulting

liability to policyholders is linked to the performance and value of the assets that back those liabilities. Whilst the underlying assets

are registered in the name of the Company and the policyholder has no direct access to the specific assets, the contractual

arrangements are such that the policyholder bears the risks and rewards of the fund's investment performance. Such contracts, which

do not meet the definition of an insurance contract, are referred to as investment contracts when issued by a registered life insurance

entity and are administered through Life statutory funds in accordance with the requirements of the Life Act. The Company derives

fee income from the administration of the underlying assets.  
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

B. Life insurance business (continued)

(c) Insurance contract liabilities (continued)

(d) Claims

(e) Reinsurance contracts

(f) Liability adequacy test

(g) Revenue

(i) Premium

(ii) Insurance contract premiums

(iii) Investment contract premiums

(iv)

Life insurance contract premiums earned by providing services and bearing risks are treated as revenue. Investment contract deposit

premiums are recognised as an increase in investment contract liability. For lifetime annuity, risk and traditional business, all

premiums are recognised as revenue. 

Premiums with no due date are recognised as revenue on a cash received basis. Premiums with a regular due date are recognised as

revenue on an accruals basis. Unpaid premiums are only recognised as revenue during the days of grace or where secured by the

surrender value of the policy and are included as outstanding premiums in the Statement of Financial Position.

There is no premium revenue in respect of investment contracts. Investment contract amounts received from policyholders in

respect of investment contracts comprise a deposit component or origination fee and an ongoing investment management fee or

amounts directly credited to investment contract liabilities.

Reinsurance recoveries receivable

Reinsurance recoveries receivable on paid and outstanding claims are recognised as revenue as the recovery of a claim is established

under the terms of the contract.

Participating policies are entitled to share in the profits that arise from participating business. This profit sharing is governed by the

Life Act and the Company's constitution. The participating policyholder profit sharing entitlement is treated as an expense in the

financial statements.

The adequacy of the insurance and investment contract liabilities is evaluated each period. The test considers current estimates of all

contractual and related cash flows. 

Claims are recognised when the liability to the policyholder under the policy contract has been established or upon notification of

the insured event, depending on the type of claim. Claims are separated into their expense and liability components. Claims incurred

in respect of investment contracts represent withdrawals and are recognised as a reduction in investment contract liabilities. 

Claims incurred that relate to the provision of services and bearing of risks are treated as expenses and these are recognised on an

accruals basis once the liability to the policyholder has been established under the terms of the contract.

Reinsurance premiums, commissions and claim settlements, as well as the reinsurance element of insurance contract liabilities, are

accounted for on the same basis as the original contracts for which the reinsurance was purchased.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

B. Life insurance business (continued)

(h) Insurance contract acquisition costs

(i) Basis of expense apportionment

C. Revenue recognition

(a) Interest revenue

(b) Fee income

(c) Distribution income

Distribution income from unlisted unit trusts is recognised on a present entitlement basis.

D. Expense recognition

Commission and management expenses are expensed as incurred.

Interest income is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as it accrues, using the effective interest rate method.

Interest income includes the amortisation of any discount or premium, transaction costs or other differences between the initial

carrying amount of the interest-bearing instrument and its amount at maturity.

Fees are charged to policyholders in connection with life insurance and investment contracts and are recognised when the service

has been provided. 

Expenses which are directly attributable to an individual policy or product are allocated directly to a particular expense category,

fund, class of business and product line as appropriate. Where expenses are not directly attributable to an individual policy or

product, they are appropriately apportioned based on a detailed expense analysis having regard to the objective in incurring that

expense and the outcome achieved. The apportionment has been made in accordance with Prudential Standard LPS 340 Valuation 

of Policy Liabilities , as issued by APRA, and on an equitable basis to the different classes of business in accordance with Division 2

of Part 6 of the Life Act.

Policy acquisition costs are the fixed and variable costs of acquiring new business. The value and future recoverability of these costs

are assessed in determining insurance contract liabilities. Amounts which are deemed recoverable in premiums or policy charges are

deferred and amortised over the life of the policy. The net profit impact is presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as a

change in insurance contract liabilities. The deferral is determined as the lesser of actual costs incurred and the allowance for

recovery of those costs from the premiums or policy charges as appropriate for each business class. This is subject to an overall limit

that future profits are anticipated to cover these costs. Losses arising on acquisition are recognised in the Statement of

Comprehensive Income in the period in which they occur.

All investment contracts and insurance contracts are categorised based on individual policy or products. Expenses for these products

are then allocated between acquisition, maintenance, investment management and other expenses.  
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

E. Income tax

(a) Income tax expense

(b) Current tax

(c) Deferred tax

(d) Offsetting

(e) Tax Consolidation Legislation

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period(s) when the asset and liability

giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

reporting date. The measurement reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Company, at the

reporting date, recovers or settles the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only to the extent that they relate to income taxes imposed by the same

taxation authority, there is a legal right and intention to settle on a net basis and it is allowed under the tax law of Australia.

Income tax on earnings for the period comprises current and deferred tax and is based on the applicable Australian tax law. It is

recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as tax expense, except when it relates to items credited directly to equity, in

which case it is recorded in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on taxable income for the period, based on tax rates (and tax laws) which are substantively

enacted at the reporting date, including any adjustment for tax payable in previous periods.

The Company is part of a tax consolidated group, of which ZFSA is the head entity, and which implemented the tax consolidation

legislation on 1 October 2003. 

The head entity, ZFSA, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group (including the Company) continue to account for

their own current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured on a stand-alone basis approximating the basis as if

each entity in the tax consolidated group was a separate taxpayer within that group.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, ZFSA also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred

tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax consolidated group.  

Assets or liabilities arising under the tax funding agreement with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts receivable

from or payable to other entities in the group.  

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive tax balance sheet method. It is generated by temporary differences between

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.

Deferred tax assets, including those related to the tax effects of income tax losses and credits available to be carried forward, are

recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary

differences or unused tax losses and credits can be utilised.

Current tax for current periods is recognised as a trade and other payables (or trade and other receivables) with Zurich Financial

Services Australia Limited ("ZFSA") to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable). Refer to note 14 for further details regarding the

impact of tax consolidation.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

E. Income tax (continued)

(e) Tax Consolidation Legislation (continued)

F. Assets

(a) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are stated at amortised cost, less any impairment losses.

(b) Financial assets

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(ii) Derivative financial instruments

(iii) Derecognition

The fair value of options is their quoted market price at the Statement of Financial Position date.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive future cash flows from assets have expired, or have been transferred,

and the company has transferred substantially all risk and rewards of ownership.

Futures contracts are valued at the quoted daily settlement prices established by the exchange on which they trade.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent gains or losses arising from changes in fair value

are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprises of debt or equity securities and investments in unit trusts. They are

initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in the Statement of

Comprehensive Income.  

Purchases and sales of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised on trade date, being the date on which the

Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Securities held to back insurance and investment contract liabilities are determined as policyholder assets, being those assets held

within the statutory funds of the Company that are not segregated and managed under a distinct shareholder investment mandate.

These policyholder assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss.

The entities in the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax sharing agreement which, in the opinion of the directors, limits the

joint and several liability of the wholly-owned entities in the case of a default by the head entity, ZFSA.

Under a separate tax funding agreement, the Company fully compensates ZFSA for any current tax payable assumed and is

compensated by ZFSA for any current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses or unused tax credits that

are transferred to ZFSA under the tax consolidation legislation. The funding amounts are determined by reference to the amounts

recognized (tax) in the Company’s financial statements.

Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are recognised as

a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities.

For further details see income tax note 14.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

G. Liabilities

(a) Trade and other payables

(b) Provisions

H. Impairment

I. Equity

(a) Ordinary shares

J. Presentation

(a) Offsetting of income and expenses

•

•

Ordinary shareholders have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the Company, to participate in

the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held. Ordinary shares

entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Company.

Income and expenses are not offset unless required or permitted by an accounting standard. This generally arises in the following

circumstances:

where amounts are collected on behalf of third parties, where the Company is, in substance, acting as an agent only; or

where costs are incurred on behalf of customers from whom the Company is reimbursed.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

A provision is recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is

probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a

pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the

liability.

The carrying amounts of the Company’s assets, other than financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, and deferred tax

assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists,

the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable

amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Ordinary share capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Company. Any transaction costs arising on

the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the share proceeds received.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

J. Presentation (continued)

(b) Offsetting assets and liabilities

•

•

(c) Cash and cash equivalents

(d) Goods and services tax

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(a) Asset impairment

(b) Insurance contract liabilities

Insurance contract liabilities are computed using statistical or mathematical methods, which are expected to give approximately the

same results as if an individual liability was calculated for each contract. The computations are made by suitably qualified personnel

on the basis of recognised actuarial methods, with due regard to relevant actuarial principles and standards. The methodology takes

into account the risks and uncertainties of the particular classes of the insurance business written. Deferred policy acquisition costs

are connected with the measurement basis of the insurance liabilities and are equally sensitive to the factors that are considered in

the liability measurement.

A brief explanation of critical estimates and judgements and their impact on the Company are discussed below.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from or payable to the

ATO is included as an other asset or liability in the Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing and

financing activities which are recoverable from or payable to the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.

The assessment of impairment of assets considers qualitative and quantitative factors and may require judgement by management in

applying accounting policies. 

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (“GST”), except where the amount of GST

incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (“ATO”). In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of

the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position only where there is:

a current enforceable legal right to offset the asset and liability; and

an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with other financial institutions, other short-term, highly

liquid investments with original terms to maturity of three months or less that are readily convertible to cash and which are subject

to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2. CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS USED IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

(b) Insurance contract liabilities (continued)

i.

ii.

iii.

iv.

(c) Assets arising from reinsurance contracts

(d) Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets

(e) Provisions

By their nature, provisions often reflect significant levels of judgement by management. The nature and amount of the provisions

included in the Statement of Financial Position are detailed in note 19.

The key factors that affect the estimation of these liabilities and related assets are:

the cost of providing the benefits and administering these insurance contracts;

mortality and morbidity experience on life insurance products, including enhancements to policyholder benefits;

discontinuance experience, which affects the Company’s ability to recover the cost of acquiring new business over the lives of

the contracts; and

the amounts credited to policyholders’ accounts compared to the returns on invested assets through asset-liability management

and strategic and tactical asset allocation.

Factors such as regulation, competition, interest rates, taxes, investment market conditions and general economic conditions affect

the level of these liabilities. In some contracts, the Company shares experience on mortality, morbidity, persistency and investment

results with its customers, which can offset the impact of these factors on profitability from those products. Details of significant

actuarial policies and methods are set out in note 3. Balances of insurance contract liabilities are set out in note 11.

Assets arising from reinsurance contracts are also computed using the same methods as for insurance contract liabilities. In

addition, the recoverability of these assets are assessed on a periodic basis to ensure that the balance is reflective of the amounts that

will ultimately be received, taking into consideration factors such as counterparty and credit risk. Impairment is recognised where

there is objective evidence that the Company may not receive amounts due to it and these amounts can be reliably measured.

Amounts of these assets arising from reinsurance contracts are set out in note 11 and note 15.

Deferred tax assets (DTA) for deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward are recognised where future income is

expected to become available to absorb the deductible temporary differences and losses not previously used. For superannuation

business, if policyholders redeem their policy before sufficient gains have occurred to offset past losses, the potential deferred tax

asset on the related investments will not be recoverable.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS

Disclosure of Assumptions for Life Insurance Contracts

 Product Group  Method  Profit Carrier(s)

 Conventional Participating  Projection

 Conventional Non-Participating  Projection

 Participating Investment Account  Projection

 Individual Lump Sum Risk  Projection

 Consumer Credit Life Insurance  Projection

 Individual Disability Income Insurance  Projection

 Group Risk Lump Sum Risk  Accumulation

 Group Risk Disability Income Insurance  Accumulation

 Annuity with Longevity Risk  Projection

 Variable Annuity with Longevity Risk  Projection

Discount rates

The value of policy liabilities has been determined in accordance with methods and assumptions disclosed in this financial

statements and the requirements of the Life Act, which includes applicable standards issued by APRA.

Policy liabilities have been calculated in accordance with Prudential Standard LPS 340 Valuation of Policy Liabilities . For

insurance contracts, the Actuarial Standard requires the policy liabilities to be calculated in a way which allows for the systematic

release of planned margins as services are provided to policyholders and premiums are received. For investment contracts, the

Actuarial Standard requires the policy liabilities to be calculated in accordance with AASBs.

The profit carriers used for the major product groups in order to achieve the systematic release of planned margins are as follows:

The effective date of the actuarial report on policy liabilities (which includes insurance contract liabilities and investment contract

liabilities) and solvency requirements is 31 December 2021. The actuarial report was prepared by Mr Ian Wong, FIAA, Appointed

Actuary. The actuarial report indicates that Mr Wong is satisfied as to the accuracy of the data upon which policy liabilities have

been determined. 

 n/a

 Annuity payments

 Protected income base

 Bonuses (participating)

 Death claims (non-participating)

 Bonuses

 Stepped Premiums

 Single - Death Claims,  Regular - Premiums

 n/a

 Stepped Premiums, Funeral Insurance - Death Claims

Non-participating business is discounted at a risk free rate. The risk free rate is determined from a Commonwealth Government

Bonds (CGB) curve. Annuity business is discounted at a risk free rate plus liquidity premium.

The risk free rate (before tax) varied by duration between 0.0% and 2.6% (2020: 0.1% and 2.1%). The risk free rate plus liquidity

premium (before tax) varied by duration between 0.2% and 2.8% (2020: 0.6% and 2.4%)

Participating business uses discount rates derived from the expected long-term average rates of investment earnings of the relevant

asset pool, based on 10 year bond rates with assumed margins for equities and property. The rate assumed (before tax) is 2.6%

(2020: 2.0%).
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

Disclosure of Assumptions for Life Insurance Contracts (continued)

Inflation

Future expenses

Benefit indexation

Rates of taxation

Mortality 

Morbidity

For Lifetime Annuities, mortality rates varies between 90% to 100% (2020: 90% to 100%) of IA90-92 insured lives mortality and

ALT1990-92 Australian population mortality depending on the age of the annuitant, with an additional allowance for mortality

improvements before and after the valuation date. Variable Annuities use an adjusted ALT2000-02 table, with further age-based

adjustments.

The long term inflation assumption was determined by considering the Reserve Bank of Australia's stated long-term range and

current market conditions. The rate assumed is 2.00% p.a. (2020: 1.75% p.a.)

For Consumer Price Index ("CPI") indexed annuity instalments and CPI indexed disability income open claims, the inflation rate is

determined based upon an inflation curve derived from available market instruments.

The assumed claim rates for Lump Sum Trauma benefits vary by product from 94% to 162% (2020: 90% to 156%) of FSC-AI

2004-2008 Tables adjusted to allow for the Company experience, effects of initial selection and other relevant factors.

Maintenance expense assumptions have been based on budgeted expenses and production for the year ended 31 December 2021,

and are expected to be sufficient to cover the costs of servicing each policy in the period following the reporting date. Inflation

adjustments are consistent with the expense inflation assumption.

Investment management expenses are based on agreed rates with investment managers.

The indexation of sums insured for retail risk products is based on the inflation assumption. Take-up rates based on past experience

are assumed for those policies that are entitled to indexation. Allowance is made for benefit indexation on immediate annuities and

disability income open claims at agreed levels.

A tax rate of 15% for the Virtual Pooled Superannuation Trust (VPST), 0% for the Segregated Exempt Asset Pool (SEAP) and

30% for all other business has been assumed.  

The assumed rates vary by product from 37% to 315% (2020: 43% to 329%) of FSC-AI 2004-2008 insured lives mortality table,

jointly published by the Financial Services Council and the Actuaries Institute, disaggregated by smoker status and adjusted to

allow for the effects of initial selection, company experience and other relevant factors.

The assumed claim rates for Lump Sum TPD benefits vary by product from 51% to 602% (2020: 48% to 839%) of FSC-AI 2004-

2008 Tables adjusted to allow for OnePath experience, effects of initial selection and other relevant factors.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

Disclosure of Assumptions for Life Insurance Contracts (continued)

Disability

Incidence (Retail and GSC)

Termination 

Loss Ratio

Voluntary discontinuance

Conventional/ Participating Investment Account 2% to 10% (2020: 2% to 10%)

Lump sum risk/ Disability income 2% to 68% (2020: 1% to 68%)

Surrender values

Asymmetric risks

Future Participating Benefits

Conventional Ordinary

Investment Account Ordinary 4.87% p.a. (2020: 4.05% p.a.)

Superannuation 4.70% p.a. (2020: 3.70% p.a.)

Surrender values are based on the provisions specified in the policy contracts. It is assumed that current surrender value bases will

be maintained.

For the participating business, the Company's policy is to set bonus rates such that over long periods, the returns to policy owners

commensurate with the investment returns achieved on relevant assets, together with other sources of profit arising from this

business. 

Voluntary discontinuance rates are based on recent company analysis and vary by product and duration inforce. For the major

classes of business, the assumed rates of discontinuance are:

Nil to $38.18 per mille dependent on bonus series 

(2020: Nil to $38.18 per mille)

Asymmetric risks are allowed explicitly for the investment contract business.

34% to 206% of ADI 14-18 table 

(2020: 34% to 229% of ADI 07-11 table)

53% to 442% of ADI 14-18 table 

(2020: 40% to 435% of ADI 07-11 table)

Distributions are split between policy owners and the shareholders in the ratios 90:10 or 80:20 dependent on bonus series.

Disability rates vary by gender, age, smoking status, occupation and other relevant factors. Rates of incidence and termination have

been based on the Company's experience and are similar to, on average:

The future benefit of MasterTrust and Group business is modelled on a loss ratio basis. The loss ratios are pricing loss ratios,

varying by fund from 79% to 176%. (2020: 78% to 174%).

For Direct Marketing TPD and Trauma series, incidence rates vary from 90% to 165% (2020: 90% to 165%) of FSC-IAA 2004-

2008 TPD rates. For the open Direct Life Income Protection products, incidence rates vary from 85% to 130% (2020: 85% to

130%) of the KPMG FSC Table 2014-2018. Termination rates are the same as Retail termination rates stated above.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

Sensitivity Analysis

2021

Change 

in 

variable

Profit/(loss) 

after income 

tax

Insurance 

contract liabilities

Profit/(loss) 

after income 

tax

Insurance 

contract 

liabilities Equity

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Market interest rates -1% (192,245) 274,635 (104,943) 149,918 (104,943)

+1% 163,864 (234,091) 92,664 (132,378) 92,664

Expense rates -10% 46,093 (65,847) 46,093 (65,847) 46,093

+10% (46,093) 65,847 (55,439) 79,198 (55,439)

Mortality rates -10% 5,855 (8,364) 3,336 (4,766) 3,336

+10% (9,936) 14,194 (7,405) 10,578 (7,405)

Morbidity rates* -10% 429,494 (613,563) 230,997 (329,996) 230,997

+10% (576,835) 824,050 (276,246) 394,637 (276,246)

Discontinuance rates -10% 34,711 (49,587) (4,189) 5,985 (4,189)

+10% (27,658) 39,512 (36,898) 52,712 (36,898)

2020

Change 

in 

variable

Profit/(loss) 

after income tax

Insurance contract 

liabilities

Profit/(loss) 

after income 

tax

Insurance 

contract 

liabilities Equity

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Market interest rates -1% (195,132) 278,760 (91,027) 130,038 (91,027)

+1% 183,600 (262,286) 98,467 (140,668) 98,467

Expense rates -10% 47,224 (67,463) 47,224 (67,463) 47,224

+10% (47,224) 67,463 (66,770) 95,385 (66,770)

Mortality rates -10% 6,494 (9,278) 3,798 (5,425) 3,798

+10% (11,072) 15,817 (8,353) 11,933 (8,353)

Morbidity rates* -10% 368,886 (526,980) 251,230 (358,900) 251,230

+10% (630,023) 900,033 (305,841) 436,916 (305,841)

Discontinuance rates -10% 13,580 (19,400) (9,192) 13,132 (9,192)

+10% (8,491) 12,130 (45,627) 65,181 (45,627)

Variable

The Company conducts sensitivity analysis to quantify the exposure of the life insurance contracts to risk of changes in the key

underlying variables such as interest rate, equity prices, mortality, morbidity and inflation. The valuations included in the reported

results and the Company's best estimate of future performance is calculated using certain assumptions about these variables. The

movement in any key variable will impact the performance and net assets of the Company and as such represents a risk. 

Net of Reinsurance

Discontinuance rates

Morbidity rates

Impact of movement in underlying variable

An increase in the level or inflationary growth of expenses over assumed levels will impact the costs

to service a contract.

Mortality rates

Expense rates

The cost of health-related claims depend on both the incidence of policyholders becoming ill and the

duration for which they remain ill.

Net of Reinsurance

The table below illustrates how changes in key assumptions would impact the reported profit, insurance contract liabilities and

equity of the Company.

An increase in discontinuance rates at earlier durations has a negative effect as it affects the ability to

recover acquisition expenses and commissions.

*The +10% sensitivity consists of an increase to incidence rates on TPD, Trauma and Income Protection business, and a decrease to termination rates for both

current Claims in Course of Payment and projected future claims. 

Market interest rates A change in market interest rates affect the value placed on future cash flows.

Greater mortality rates would lead to higher levels of claims occurring, increasing associated claims

cost. On the lifetime annuity business, greater mortality rates reduce the claims cost.

Result of change in variables

Gross of Reinsurance

Result of change in variables

Gross of Reinsurance
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

4. STATUTORY FUND AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Life Insurance Funds

 Type of Business  Major Products

Statutory Fund No 1  Non Investment Linked  Conventional

 Ordinary Business  Group Investment

 Group Life

 Group Salary Continuance

 Consumer Credit Life Insurance

 Insurance Bonds

 Regular Premium Investment

 Yearly Renewable Disability

 Yearly Renewable Term

Statutory Fund No 2  Investment Linked  Group Investment

 Ordinary Business  Insurance Bonds

 Regular Premium Investment

Statutory Fund No 3  Non Investment Linked  Conventional

 Superannuation Business  Allocated Pensions     

 Group Investment

 Group Life

 Group Salary Continuance

 Yearly Renewable Term

 Yearly Renewable Disability

 Immediate Annuities

 Master Trust and Corporate Superannuation

 Regular Premium Investment

 Rollover Bonds

 Superannuation Bonds

Statutory Fund No 4  Investment Linked  Allocated Pensions

 Superannuation Business  Master Trust and Corporate Superannuation

 Regular Premium Investment

 Rollover Bonds

 Superannuation Bonds

Statutory Fund No 5  Non Investment Linked Annuity with Longevity Risk

The Company operates predominantly in the life insurance industry. The principal activities of the Company are the

underwriting of various classes of ordinary and superannuation life insurance and the investment of related funds. The

Company operates in one geographical area, being Australia.  

In accordance with the requirements of the Life Insurance Act 1995, the Company has established separate Statutory

Funds to account for the different type of life insurance business written by the Company. The policies written within

each statutory fund are as follows:
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

4. STATUTORY FUND AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Part 1. Segment information - abbreviated Statement of Comprehensive Income at Statutory and Shareholder fund level (current year)

Non-Linked Linked Statutory Shareholder

Statutory Statutory Statutory Statutory Statutory Funds Funds

Fund 1 Fund 3 Fund 5 Total Fund 2 Fund 4 Total Total Total Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Insurance premium revenue 1,009,910 486,084 - 1,495,994 - - - 1,495,994 - 1,495,994

Outward reinsurance expense (526,168) (163,332) - (689,500) - - - (689,500) - (689,500)

Fees for management services rendered 1,558 2,265 520 4,343 5,987 3,276 9,263 13,606 - 13,606

Investment revenue 17,333 23,622 7 40,962 65,792 30,158 95,950 136,912 - 136,912

Total revenue and other income 502,633 348,639 527 851,799 71,779 33,434 105,213 957,012 - 957,012

Claims expense (585,489) (431,775) - (1,017,264) - - - (1,017,264) - (1,017,264)

Reinsurance recoveries 365,204 138,488 - 503,692 - - - 503,692 - 503,692

Operating expenses (291,102) (133,057) (27) (424,186) (2,474) (1,100) (3,574) (427,760) - (427,760)

Net movement in policy liabilities 71,741 72,121 1,148 145,010 (47,905) (26,321) (74,226) 70,784 - 70,784

Total operating expenses (439,646) (354,223) 1,121 (792,748) (50,379) (27,421) (77,800) (870,548) - (870,548)

Profit/(loss) before income tax 62,987 (5,584) 1,648 59,051 21,400 6,013 27,413 86,464 - 86,464

Income tax benefit / (expense) (16,546) (3,590) (422) (20,558) (17,406) (3,931) (21,337) (41,895) - (41,895)

Profit/(loss) for the year 46,441 (9,174) 1,226 38,493 3,994 2,082 6,076 44,569 - 44,569

Appropriations:

Capital transfer between funds (*) - 60,000 - 60,000 (11,000) (17,000) (28,000) 32,000 (32,000) -

Profit/(loss) after appropriations 46,441 50,826 1,226 98,493 (7,006) (14,918) (21,924) 76,569 (32,000) 44,569

2021

(*) The Life Act permits the transfer of capital to/from and between Statutory Funds subject to the requirements of the Solvency and Capital Adequacy provisions of the Life Act. The

amounts of any such transfers from the Shareholder Fund to the Statutory Funds are recorded as Capital Payments to the Life Insurance Funds and form part of the Shareholder's

Interest in the net worth of the Life Insurance Funds.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

4. STATUTORY FUND AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Part 1. Segment information - abbreviated Statement of Comprehensive Income at fund level (prior period)

Non-Linked Linked Statutory Shareholder

Statutory Statutory Statutory Statutory Statutory Funds Funds

Fund 1 Fund 3 Fund 5 Total Fund 2 Fund 4 Total Total Total Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Insurance premium revenue 973,652 497,668 - 1,471,320 - - - 1,471,320 - 1,471,320

Outward reinsurance expense (500,601) (153,563) - (654,164) - - - (654,164) - (654,164)

Fees for management services rendered 932 2,118 570 3,620 8,244 3,969 12,213 15,833 - 15,833

Investment revenue 69,530 45,118 56 114,704 11,325 13,173 24,498 139,202 18 139,220

Total revenue and other income 543,513 391,341 626 935,480 19,569 17,142 36,711 972,191 18 972,209

Claims expense (608,278) (474,992) - (1,083,270) - - - (1,083,270) - (1,083,270)

Reinsurance recoveries 404,959 176,388 - 581,347 - - - 581,347 - 581,347

Operating expenses (275,133) (135,020) (11) (410,164) (4,455) (1,647) (6,102) (416,266) - (416,266)

Net movement in policy liabilities (16,962) (22,926) (568) (40,456) (10,167) (10,480) (20,647) (61,103) - (61,103)

Total operating expenses (495,414) (456,550) (579) (952,543) (14,622) (12,127) (26,749) (979,292) - (979,292)

(Loss) / Profit before income tax 48,099 (65,209) 47 (17,063) 4,947 5,015 9,962 (7,101) 18 (7,083)

Income tax benefit / (expense) (15,189) 15,938 58 807 989 (2,753) (1,764) (957) (5) (962)

(Loss) / Profit for the year 32,910 (49,271) 105 (16,256) 5,936 2,262 8,198 (8,058) 13 (8,045)

Appropriations:

Capital transfer between funds (*) 42,000 53,000 - 95,000 - - - 95,000 (95,000) -

Profit/(loss) after appropriations 74,910 3,729 105 78,744 5,936 2,262 8,198 86,942 (94,987) (8,045)

2020

(*) The Life Act permits the transfer of capital to/from and between Statutory Funds subject to the requirements of the Solvency and Capital Adequacy provisions of the Life Act. The

amounts of any such transfers from the Shareholder Fund to the Statutory Funds are recorded as Capital Payments to the Life Insurance Funds and form part of the Shareholder's

Interest in the net worth of the Life Insurance Funds.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

4. STATUTORY FUND AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Part 2. Segment information - abbreviated Balance Sheet at fund level (current year)

Non-Linked Linked Statutory Shareholder
Statutory Statutory Statutory Statutory Statutory Funds Funds

Fund 1 Fund 3 Fund 5 Total Fund 2 Fund 4 Total Total Total Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

182,766 286,332 13,286 482,384 21,324 2,633 23,957 506,341 1,888 508,229

1,612,683 1,491,727 4,999 3,109,409 484,177 418,027 902,204 4,011,613 - 4,011,613

424,368 844 - 425,212 - - - 425,212 - 425,212

418,373 238,750 (360) 656,763 (21,963) 24,837 2,874 659,637 - 659,637

2,638,190 2,017,653 17,925 4,673,768 483,538 445,497 929,035 5,602,803 1,888 5,604,691

1,329,441 995,278 (768) 2,323,951 - - - 2,323,951 - 2,323,951

63,557 439,715 - 503,272 467,774 419,861 887,635 1,390,907 - 1,390,907

31,860 7,569 - 39,429 - - - 39,429 - 39,429

329,241 259,271 4 588,516 3,124 5,745 8,869 597,385 - 597,385

1,754,099 1,701,833 (764) 3,455,168 470,898 425,606 896,504 4,351,672 - 4,351,672

884,091 315,820 18,689 1,218,600 12,640 19,891 32,531 1,251,131 1,888 1,253,019

- - - - - - - - 1,344,409 1,344,409

884,091 315,820 18,689 1,218,600 12,640 19,891 32,531 1,251,131 (1,342,521) (91,390)

884,091 315,820 18,689 1,218,600 12,640 19,891 32,531 1,251,131 1,888 1,253,019

2021
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

4. STATUTORY FUND AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Part 2. Segment information - abbreviated Balance Sheet at fund level (prior period)

Non-Linked Linked Statutory Shareholder
Statutory Statutory Statutory Statutory Statutory Funds Funds

Fund 1 Fund 3 Fund 5 Total Fund 2 Fund 4 Total Total Total Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

313,127 210,601 12,780 536,508 23,025 14,005 37,030 573,538 10,273 583,811

1,511,943 1,609,699 5,000 3,126,607 497,447 464,063 961,545 4,088,152 - 4,088,152

280,746 (40,327) - 240,419 - - - 240,419 - 240,419

499,622 223,525 72 723,219 (5,176) 18,079 12,903 736,122 (6,385) 729,737

2,605,438 2,003,498 17,852 4,626,753 515,296 496,147 1,011,478 5,638,231 3,888 5,642,119

1,263,689 1,052,057 380 2,316,126 - - - 2,316,126 - 2,316,126
68,023 474,464 - 542,487 483,204 455,017 938,221 1,480,708 - 1,480,708

32,529 6,808 - 39,337 - - - 39,337 - 39,337

403,547 205,175 9 608,731 12,446 6,321 18,767 627,498 - 627,498

1,767,788 1,738,504 389 3,506,681 495,650 461,338 956,988 4,463,669 - 4,463,669

837,650 264,994 17,463 1,120,072 19,646 34,809 54,490 1,174,562 3,888 1,178,450

- - - - - - - - 1,314,409 1,314,409

837,650 264,994 17,463 1,120,072 19,646 34,809 54,490 1,174,562 (1,310,521) (135,959)

837,650 264,994 17,463 1,120,072 19,646 34,809 54,490 1,174,562 3,888 1,178,450

2020
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

5. ANALYSIS OF PROFIT

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Life Act Shareholders' Profit $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

The Life Act Shareholders' Operating Profit

after Income Tax is represented by:

Investment Earnings on Retained Profits and Capital (1,308) (4,947) 1,741 2,023 433 (2,924)

Emergence of Planned Profits 
(*)

8,289 16,856 - - 8,289 16,856

Experience (Loss) / Profit 
(*)

(18,148) (81,904) - - (18,148) (81,904)

Capitalised (Losses) / Reversal of Losses 
(*)

47,351 37,553 - - 47,351 37,553

Management services profit - - 6,940 7,194 6,940 7,194

Provisions (296) 15,180 - - (296) 15,180

Life Act Shareholders' Operating (Loss) / 35,888 (17,262) 8,681 9,217 44,569 (8,045)

 Profit after Income Tax and Abnormal Items

Cumulative Capitalised Losses Carried Forward at (600,998) (668,643) - - (600,998) (668,643)
 End of Year before Tax

Life Act policyholders' Operating Profit

 in the Statutory Funds

The Life Act Policyholders' Operating Profit

after Income Tax of the Statutory Funds is

represented by:

Investment Earnings on Retained Profits 1,628 848 - - 1,628 848

Emergence of policyholders' Planned Profits 3,463 6,115 - - 3,463 6,115

Experience (Loss) / Profit 718 524 - - 718 524

Profit after Income Tax and Abnormal Items 5,809 7,487 - - 5,809 7,487

(*)
 Restatement of prior year's is a consistent representation of emergence of planned profit, experience profit/loss and reversal of losses with 2021.

Management Services

Insurance Contract Element of Investment

Contract BusinessBusiness Total
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

6. CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS OF THE LIFE COMPANY

In the current financial year, under prudential capital standards, the capital requirements and capital adequacy multiple are as follows:

Statutory 

Fund 1

Statutory 

Fund 2

Statutory 

Fund 3

Statutory 

Fund 4

Statutory 

Fund 5

Total Statutory 

Funds

Shareholder 

Fund Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Capital Base

Paid-up ordinary shares, retained earnings and reserves (Common Equity Tier 1 

Capital) 1,253,019 

Additional Tier 1 Capital - 

Net assets as per Life Insurance Act 884,091 12,640 315,820 19,891 18,689 1,251,131 1,887 1,253,019 

Regulatory adjustments - - - - - - - - 

Excess deferred tax assets over the deferred tax liabilities (230,005) - (33,450) (1,016) - (264,471) - (264,471)

Policy liability adjustment (195,188) - 19,143 41 (768) (176,772) - (176,772)

Total regulatory adjustments to Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (425,193) - (14,307) (975) (768) (441,243) - (441,243)

Total Capital Base 458,898 12,640 301,512 18,917 17,921 809,888 1,887 811,776 

Prescribed capital amount

Insurance risk capital charge 144,996 - 104,256 - - 249,252 - 249,252 

Asset risk charge 83,062 775 98,720 688 - 183,244 35 183,279 

Operational risk charge 33,900 1,169 21,638 1,050 1 57,759 - 57,759 

Aggregate risk charge for variable annuities - - - - 9,478 9,478 - 9,478 

Less aggregation benefit (47,114) - (45,712) - - (92,827) - (92,827)

Combined stress scenario adjustment 56,729 1,156 34,122 - - 92,007 - 92,007 

Total prescribed capital amount 271,573 3,100 213,024 1,738 9,479 498,913 35 498,948 

Capital Adequacy Multiple
*

1.69 4.08 1.42 10.89 1.89 1.62 53.91 1.63 

OnePath Life Limited

2021

The Company is required to hold prudential reserves, over and above their life insurance contract and investment contract liabilities, as a buffer against adverse experience and poor investment returns. The prudential capital

framework is intended to take account of the full range of risks to which a regulated institution is exposed to and sets out the prescribed capital amount requirement.

 * The Capital Adequacy Multiple has been calculated based on absolute numbers and not on the rounded numbers. 

The Appointed Actuary of the Company has confirmed that as at 31 December 2021, and during the year, OnePath Life comfortably met the Solvency and Prudential Capital Requirements of the relevant APRA Standards. 

#
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

6. CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS OF THE LIFE COMPANY (continued)

Statutory Fund 

1

Statutory Fund 

2

Statutory Fund 

3

Statutory Fund 

4

Statutory Fund 

5

Total Statutory 

Funds

Shareholder 

Fund Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Capital Base

Paid-up ordinary shares, retained earnings and reserves (Common Equity Tier 1 

Capital) 1,178,450

Additional Tier 1 Capital -

Net assets as per Life Insurance Act 837,650 19,646 264,994 34,809 17,463 1,174,562 3,888 1,178,450 

Regulatory adjustments - 

Excess deferred tax assets over the deferred tax liabilities (243,719) - (23,200) - - (266,919) - (266,919)

Policy liability adjustment (178,947) - 31,693 62 - (147,192) - (147,192)

Total regulatory adjustments to Common Equity Tier 1 Capital 414,984 19,646 273,487 34,871 17,463 760,451 3,888 764,339 

Total Capital Base 414,983 19,647 273,464 34,872 17,463 760,429 3,887 764,317 

Prescribed capital amount

Insurance risk capital charge 161,368 - 118,480 - - 278,231 - 278,231 

Asset risk charge 44,127 1,255 78,075 1,159 - 124,541 62 124,603 

Asset concentration risk charge - - - - - - - - 

Operational risk charge 35,506 1,208 22,899 1,137 1 60,751 - 60,752 

Aggregate risk charge for variable annuities - - - - 10,111 10,111 - 10,111 

Less aggregation benefit (29,896) - (42,174) - - (71,910) - (71,910)

Combined stress scenario adjustment 63,692 1,511 37,355 1,133 - 105,192 - 105,193 

Total prescribed capital amount 274,797 3,974 214,634 3,429 10,112 506,916 62 506,980 
Capital Adequacy Multiple* 1.51 4.94 1.27 10.17 1.73 1.50 62.69 1.51 

*
The Capital Adequacy Multiple has been calculated based on absolute numbers and not on the rounded numbers.

OnePath Life Limited

2020

32
#



ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

7. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

A Risk management framework

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of risks that could potentially impact the financial standing of the Company. This

note and note 8 – Financial Risk Management, provide an overview of the processes and considerations undertaken in managing

these risks. 

The Risk Management Framework, comprises the totality of systems, structures, policies, processes and people that identify,

measure, evaluate, monitor, report and control or mitigate all internal and external sources of material risk. The key components of

the Risk Management Framework are:

The Risk Management Framework seeks to manage risks within the Board’s risk appetite. This includes a focus on potential

adverse effects on the financial performance of the Company, in particular capital and solvency.

Section A below reviews the Risk Management Framework employed to ensure that the management of risk is complete, effective

and aligned to the strategic intent of the Company.

The various categories of risk that may impact the financial standing of the Company are outlined as follows: Section B reviews the

Insurance Risks; Section C reviews the Operational Risks, including the specific controls in place to manage the risk of financial

misstatement; and note 8 separately details the Financial Risk Management policies and procedures in place. 

• The Board’s Risk Appetite Statement – which sets out the Board’s appetite for risk taking in the pursuit of its strategic objectives,

giving consideration to the interests of policyholders.

• The Business Plan – which is developed within the Board’s risk appetite and having regard for the risk management strategy of

the Company and capital adequacy implications.

• The Risk Management Strategy (RMS) – which describes the Company's strategy for managing risk and the key elements of the

risk management framework that give effect to the strategy.

• The Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process – which comprises the processes and procedures for assessing the risks arising

from the Company’s activities such that capital held is commensurate with the level of risk; and it also sets out the strategy for

maintaining adequate capital over time, including the setting of capital targets consistent with the risk profile of the Company, the

Board’s risk appetite and regulatory capital requirements.

The objective of the RMS is to describe and formalise the Company's approach to the management of risk by setting out:

• clear roles and responsibilities for the management of risk;

• an overview of integrated systems, policies and processes that support effective risk management;

• the risk types that impact the Company and the approach to managing those risks;

• the methodology by which the Company identifies, assesses and manages its risks in accordance with the Group’s risk appetite;

• the mechanisms by which the Company identifies and manages new and emerging risks; and

• reporting requirements for monitoring risks and the process for escalation where required.

The Company has an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process ("ICAAP") that addresses the potential impact of all risk types

to capital and solvency. Under the ICAAP, the authority to take risk is clearly delegated through the Board’s Risk Appetite

Statement. For all categories of risk, subject matter experts are responsible for the management of each category of risk, including

the impact of that risk on capital adequacy. Each category of risk has its own governance streams to leverage that expertise.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

7. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES (continued)

A Risk management framework (continued)

B Insurance Risk

(a) Life insurance contracts - Risk management objectives

(b) Strategy for managing life insurance risk

Portfolio of risk

The key risks within the business are considered at least annually by the Internal Audit department, resulting in an annual audit plan

which is approved by the Risk, Compliance and Audit Committee (RCAC). The Internal Audit department is independent of the

day to day operational management of the Company and executes a review of components of the internal control systems in

accordance with the annual audit plan to assess the effectiveness of the internal controls, risk management within the Company and

compliance with the RMS. 

The Board requires that an active risk culture program is in place. This includes communication, promotion and engagement

activities as well as training for new starters, training for managers, development of additional tools and Executive sponsorship

(including modelling of behaviours by Executives and setting the appropriate ‘tone from the top’). 

Insurance risks are controlled through the use of underwriting procedures, adequate premium rates and policy charges, the ability to

change premium rates for yearly renewable business and reinsurance arrangements. Controls are also maintained over claims

management practices to ensure the appropriate and timely payment of insurance claims.

The Board requires that the remuneration structures in place across the organisation are appropriate, promote a strong risk culture

and do not incentivise unethical or inappropriate behaviours. To align staff conduct with a strong risk culture, all staff are required

to include in their personal performance objectives a requirement to demonstrate risk and governance behaviours through

appropriate behavioural attributes.

Behavioural metrics are monitored and reported to the Executive Teams and the RCAC every 6 months to track progress and

identify areas for improvement. Risk management behaviours are explicitly included in all employees’ performance objectives. The

Board expects that the risk culture initiatives are evaluated and improved over time.

The Company’s objective with regard to insurance risk is to satisfactorily manage the risks in line with the Risk Management

Strategy ("RMS") which is approved by the Board. Various procedures are put in place to control and mitigate the risks faced by the

Company depending on the nature of each risk, and in particular the severity and probability of each risk. The Company’s exposure

to risk is monitored by the Chief Risk Officer and communicated regularly to the Board via the Quarterly Risk Report. The

Appointed Actuary also monitors this exposure and reports to the Board in the annual Financial Condition Report.

• Life insurance Risk (sub-categorised by life liability risk and life business risk)

• Operational Risk (sub-categorised by people risk, process risk, systems risk and external risk)

• Financial Risk (sub-categorised by market and investment risk (including asset liability risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and

concentration risk)

• Strategic Risk (sub-categorised by strategy and business plan risk, reputational risk, and governance risk).

The broadest categorisation of risks are:

With the exception of strategic risk – where the impact tends to be over a longer-term time horizon and hence is less relevant to the

annual financial statements – these categories are discussed in the following sections, with financial risks separately discussed

within note 8. 

The Company currently issues term life, total and permanent disablement, trauma and disability income, consumer credit insurance,

master trust, group life and group salary continuance contracts. There is also exposure to savings bonds, annuities, endowments and

whole of life contracts each of which are no longer written. The performance of the Company and its continuing ability to write

profitable business depends on its ability to identify and control risks. The Company has adopted the ZFSA RMS which has been

approved by the Board. It summarises the Company’s approach to risk and risk management.

Insurance risks are monitored by internal management committees which report regularly to the Board.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

7. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES (continued)

B Insurance Risk (continued)

(b) Strategy for managing life insurance risk (continued)

Risk strategy

Allocation of capital

(c) Methods to monitor and assess life insurance risk exposures

Exposure to risk

Statutory capital adequacy requirements

Management reporting

(d) Methods to limit or transfer life insurance risk exposures

Reinsurance

Underwriting procedures

Claims management

Strict claims management procedures ensure the timely and appropriate payment of claims in a consistent and effective manner in

accordance with policy conditions. 

Reinsurance is used to limit exposure to large single claims and reduce the volatility of expected profits. New reinsurance treaties

are assessed to indicate how they will impact the level and volatility of expected profits as well as the impact on the Company’s

capital position to ensure the achievement of the appropriate choice of type of reinsurance and retention levels.

Solvency and capital adequacy requirements established by APRA are in place to reinforce safeguards for policyholders’ interests,

which are primarily the ability to meet future claims payments to policyholders and to meet policyholders’ reasonable expectations.

The APRA solvency and capital adequacy requirements must be met continuously throughout the year. These solvency and capital

adequacy requirements also take into account specific risks faced by the Company. 

Strategic underwriting decisions are put into effect using the underwriting procedures detailed in the Company’s underwriting

manual. Such procedures include limits to delegated authorities and signing powers. The underwriting process is regularly

monitored by the Company’s internal auditors to ensure adequate controls are in place over the underwriting process and that the

controls are effective.

The Company’s insurance operations are subject to regulatory prudential capital requirements which prescribe the amount of capital

to be held depending on the risks associated with the products issued by the Company and the type, quality and concentration of

investments held. The Company also aims to hold a target surplus above the prudential capital requirements.

In an effort to protect and enhance shareholder value, the Company manages its exposure to risks so that it can react in a timely

manner to changes in financial markets, insurance cycles, and economic and political environments. 

Capital is allocated by the Company to the portfolios of contracts or is held in a central reserve based on management’s assessment

of the risks to which each line of business is exposed and its view of the profitability of the products that are sold. 

In compliance with contractual and regulatory requirements, a strategy is in place to ensure that the risks underwritten satisfy

shareholders risk and reward objectives whilst not adversely affecting the Company’s ability to pay benefits and claims when due.

The strategy involves the identification of risks by type, impact and likelihood, the implementation of processes and controls to

mitigate the risks, and continuous monitoring and improvement of the procedures in place to reduce the chance of an adverse

insurance risk event occurring. Included in this strategy is the process for underwriting and product pricing to ensure products are

appropriately priced. Capital requirements are measured using the various regulatory reporting requirements to which the Company

is subject.

The Company reports monthly financial and operational results to the management. 
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

7. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES (continued)

B Insurance Risk (continued)

(e) Concentration of life insurance risk

Insurance risks associated with human life events

C Operational Risk

The Company considers controls to be key instruments for monitoring and managing operational risk. Although primarily focused

on important controls over financial reporting, internal control efforts also include related operational and compliance controls. The

Company continues to strengthen the robustness, consistency, documentation and assessment of internal controls for business

processes. Operational effectiveness of key controls is assessed by self-assessment and independent testing on relevant controls

supporting the financial statements.

An operational risk of particular relevance to this report is the risk of misstatement of financial statements. 

The Company has exposure to both individual risk business and group risk business. With group risk business, protection against

death or disablement is typically provided to super funds or employers of large work forces where concentration risks may emerge. 

The Company has established a catastrophe and pandemic reinsurance treaty with Zurich Insurance Company Limited, Switzerland

(ZIC) to reduce the risk of high losses caused by a single event.

Operational risk is the risk of loss or the risk of not achieving business objectives resulting from inadequate or failed processes,

people, systems or from external events such as outsourcing, external business disruptions, external cyber attacks, legislation, or

external fraud.

The Company has a comprehensive framework with a common approach to identify, assess, quantify, mitigate, monitor and report

operational risk. Generally, all business activities contain some aspect of operational risk. Therefore, ongoing initiatives and

operational transformation help manage operational risks through standardisation of processes. Functional business areas within the

Company undertake a risk assessment to identify, assess, manage and monitor operational risk. Risk registers are developed and

recorded in a central database for each functional business area, including identifying control owners and action plans for

improvement of controls. These risk registers are regularly reviewed, updated and improved. Risk Management facilitates the

formal review of the risk register on a risk-based approach. Projects with an expected budget over a defined threshold also undergo

a risk assessment.

A key control for operational risk is maintaining and developing capability of the Company’s business continuity and disaster

recovery to plan for the event of a major business disruption.
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ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Credit risk

(i) General

(ii) Measurement

AAA AA A BBB No credit rating Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash and cash equivalents - 508,229 - - - 508,229 

Term deposits - 52,000 125,000 - - 177,000 

Debt securities 909,546 491,745 449,312 284,078 - 2,134,681

Trade and other receivables - 312,682 - - 164,987 477,669 

909,546 1,364,656 574,312 284,078 164,987 3,297,579 

Financial risk management as discussed below considers the significant risks borne by the Company's shareholders. This excludes

investment contract liabilities and investments held to back investment contract liabilities, as the significant risk in relation to these

assets are passed onto the policyholder.

Credit Quality

The maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as

indicated on the Balance Sheet.

Credit risk is the risk of loss from default by debtors (including bond issuers) or other counterparties. Credit exposure also arises from

cash at bank, term deposits, debt securities and trade and other receivables. Credit risk in respect of derivative financial instruments

arises from the potential failure of the counterparties to meet their obligations under the contract or arrangement. The placement of

these assets is subject to risk thresholds or limits as described in the RAS. 

Reinsurance is placed with highly rated counterparties and management regularly assesses the creditworthiness of its reinsurers. In

addition, the Appointed Actuary provides advice on the suitability of reinsurance arrangements.

Credit risk arises in the Company’s investment activities and in the ordinary course of business. The Company’s credit exposure arises

from the investment of shareholder capital into debt securities, cash and cash equivalents, term deposits and trade receivables.

Credit risk management is supported by information systems and regular monitoring. The Company has a policy of maintaining a high

quality investment grade portfolio, mainly ranging from AAA to BBB+ (normalised long term Standard & Poor's rating scale).

Similarly the counterparties to exchange contracts are limited to companies with strong credit ratings. Term deposits are held with

Australian domiciled banks which have a current long-term rating of  greater than A.

2021

The credit quality of financial assets, where there is credit risk to the Company, is as follows:
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8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued )

(a) Credit risk (continued)

(ii) Measurement (continued)

AAA AA A BBB No credit rating Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash and cash equivalents - 583,811 - - - 583,811 

Term deposits - 1,136,850 - - - 1,136,850 

Debt securities 865,870 395,048 99,635 5,085 - 1,365,638

- 310,610 - - 223,081 533,691

865,870 2,426,319 99,635 5,085 223,081 3,619,990 

(b) Market risk

(i) General

(ii) Measurement

(1) Interest rate risk

2021

Floating 

interest rate

Fixed interest 

rate

Total 

carrying 

amount

$'000 $'000 $'000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 508,229 - 508,229

Term deposits - 177,000 177,000

Debt securities 266,619 1,868,062 2,134,681

Total financial assets 774,848 2,045,062 2,819,910

Interest rate risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in interest rates and the impact on future cash flows or the fair value of

financial instruments.

There may be a potential impact on the level of fees derived from policyholder accounts if there is a significant change in the funds

under management valuations. This is a secondary impact and is not incorporated in the analysis.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables

such as interest rates, market prices and foreign currency exchange rates.

The value of the investment linked contracts is directly related to the valuation of the assets measured at fair value. As such, the profit

or loss and equity reserves are not impacted by movement caused by market risk on investment linked contracts and are excluded from

the analysis.

None of the financial assets as at 31 December 2021 (2020: none) were impaired or past due.

The following provides an analysis of the exposures of the different types of market risks.

The value of the investment account contracts are subject to the smoothing of returns to policy holders, crediting rate guarantees and

investment hedges. As such, the profit or loss is impacted by market risk movements on investment account contracts.

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while

optimising the returns. 

Interest bearing

Interest rate risk primarily arises from cash and cash equivalents, term deposits and investments in debt securities.

2020

Trade and other receivables
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8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Measurement (continued)

(1) Interest rate risk (continued)

2020

Floating 

interest rate

Fixed interest 

rate

Total carrying 

amount

$'000 $'000 $'000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 583,811 - 583,811

Term deposits - 1,136,850 1,136,850

Debt securities 29,873 1,335,765 1,365,638

Total financial assets 613,684 2,472,615 3,086,299

increase in 

variable

decrease in 

variable

increase in 

variable

decrease in 

variable

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2021 175 (175) 175 (175)

2020 165 (165) 165 (165)

(2) Other price risk

Other price risk sensitivity analysis

increase in 

variable

decrease in 

variable

increase in 

variable

decrease in 

variable

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2021 217,213 (217,230) 217,213 (217,230)

2020 224,427 (225,005) 224,427 (225,005)

Comparative information has been restated to align with current year calculations.

(3) Foreign currency risk

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that liquidity sources (cash and liquid assets) of the Company are insufficient to meet liquidity needs associated

with its financial liabilities.

The Company manages liquidity risk by ensuring that there is adequate access to reserves and banking facilities through ongoing

monitoring of actual and forecasted cash flows and maintenance of liquidity.

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value of investments may increase or decrease as a result of changes in market prices, whether these

changes are caused by factors specific to an individual instrument or factors affecting all instruments, or classes of instruments, in the

market.

The Company’s price risk exposure relates to non-investment linked financial assets and financial liabilities whose values will fluctuate as

a result of changes in market prices. The Company’s exposure is limited to the shareholder assets and the exposure on the capital

guaranteed business.

Profit or Loss

A change of 10% (2020: 10%) in market prices at the reporting date would have had the following direct impact on the profit or loss and

equity position as shown below:

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a monetary financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in

foreign exchange rates. The Company does not have a direct exposure to foreign currency risk.

Equity

Interest bearing

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

Profit or Loss Equity

A change of 10 basis points (2020: 10 basis points) in interest rates at the reporting date would have had the following direct impact on

the profit or loss and equity position as shown below:
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8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity analysis

2021

1 Year or Less 1 Year to 5 

Years

More than 5 

Years

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(i) Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 508,229 - - 508,229 

Trade and other receivables 445,898 31,771 - 477,669

Financial assets 2,015,929 796,793 1,198,891 4,011,613

Total financial assets 2,970,056 828,564 1,198,891 4,997,511 

(ii) Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 519,679 21,057 - 540,736

Provisions 56,649 - - 56,649

Investment contract liabilities 1,386,160 2,764 1,983 1,390,907 

Total financial liabilities 1,962,488 23,821 1,983 1,988,292 

2020

1 Year or Less 1 Year to 5 

Years

More than 5 

Years

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(i) Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 583,811 - - 583,811 

Trade and other receivables 500,923 32,768 - 533,691

Financial assets 2,820,215 473,356 794,581 4,088,152

Total financial assets 3,904,949 506,124 794,581 5,205,654 

(ii) Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 534,256 21,287 - 555,543

Provisions 68,357 3,598 - 71,955

Investment contract liabilities 1,473,865 3,477 3,366 1,480,708

Total financial liabilities 2,076,478 28,362 3,366 2,108,206 

Demands for funds can usually be met through ongoing normal operations, premiums received and the sale of assets or borrowing.

Expected liquidity demands within the Company are managed through a combination of treasury, investment and asset-liability

management guidelines, which are monitored on an ongoing basis. Unexpected liquidity demands are managed through a combination of

product design, investment strategy and systematic monitoring. The Company regularly assesses and monitors the liquidity risk profile

through analysis of liabilities that increase liquidity risk, investment portfolio reviews to ensure adequate liquidity, and analysis of the

expected asset and liability cash flows in regards to the ability of the business to meet cash demands.

For the purposes of the liquidity analysis reported below, only part of the contractual obligation for investment contract liabilities is

considered not to be subject to early redemption. As a result the assets which back these liabilities are also invested in assets with an

applicable liquidity profile to control the risks associated with the necessity to make early repayments.

Where investment contract liabilities are on demand, they have been disclosed as being expected to be settled within 1 year or less.
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9. NET PREMIUM AND INVESTMENT REVENUE

2021 2020

$'000 $'000

(a) Net premium revenue

Premium revenue 1,495,994 1,471,320 

Reinsurance commission 108,657 110,228 

Reinsurance premium expense (798,157) (764,392)

Net premium revenue 806,494 817,156 

(b) Investment revenue

Interest, distribution and other revenue sourced from investments held as fair value through profit or loss 174,041 145,751 

Change in fair value of financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss (37,129) (6,531)

Total investment revenue 136,912 139,220 

10. INVESTMENT CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2021 2020
Note $'000 $'000

(a) Movement in investment contract liabilities

Opening balance 1,480,708 1,638,725 

Deposit premiums recognised as change in investment contract liabilities 38,845 29,577 

Fees recognised as change in investment contract liabilities (13,606) (15,833)

Withdrawals recognised as change in investment contract liabilities (221,132) (227,243)

Change in investment contract liabilities as shown in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 106,092 55,482 

Investment contract liabilities closing balance
1,390,907 1,480,708 

(b) Guaranteed investment contract liabilities

Investment contract liabilities that contain guaranteed elements 494,851 535,171 

Investment contract liabilities subject to investment performance guarantees 270,556 307,133 

Total guaranteed investment contract liabilities
765,407 842,304 

11. INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Note

Gross insurance contract liabilities 11(a) 2,323,951 2,316,126 

Insurance contract liabilities / (assets) ceded under reinsurance 11(b) (425,212) (240,419)

Net insurance contract liabilities
1,898,739 2,075,707 

(a) Movement in gross insurance contract liabilities

Opening balance 2,316,126 2,271,989 

Change in insurance contract liabilities as shown in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 7,825 44,137 

Gross insurance contract liabilities closing balance at end of the year 2,323,951 2,316,126 

These investment contract liabilities are financial liabilities which have been designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial

recognition.

ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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11. INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 2021 2020

$'000 $'000

(b) Movement in insurance contract liabilities ceded

Opening balance 240,419 203,294 

Change in insurance contract liabilities ceded as shown in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 184,793 37,125 

Insurance contract liabilities ceded closing balance at end of the year 425,212 240,419

(c) Guaranteed insurance contract liabilities

Insurance contract liabilities that relate to guaranteed elements 236,008 270,632 

Total guaranteed insurance contract liabilities 236,008 270,632 

(d) Movement in unvested policyowner benefits

Opening balance 39,337 40,728 

Change in unvested policyowner benefits 92 (1,391)

Unvested policyowner benefits at end of the year 39,429 39,337 

(e) Components of insurance contract liabilities 

2020

Previous Current Previous year's

Basis 
(iv)

Basis Basis 
(v)

$'000 $'000 $'000

Best estimate liability (i)

Value of future policy benefits (ii)
4,327,254 4,532,811 4,738,059

Value of future expenses
 (vi)

3,846,369 3,969,149 4,130,669

Value of future premiums
 (vi)

(6,421,657) (6,784,810) (6,955,033)

Total best estimate liability 1,751,966 1,717,150 1,913,695

Value of future profits 
(i)

Policyowner bonuses (iii)
11,215 11,215 6,785

Shareholder profit margin 144,266 164,804 150,929

Total value of future profits 155,481 176,019 157,714

Total value of declared bonuses 5,570 5,570 4,194

Total net insurance contract liabilities 1,913,017 1,898,739 2,075,603

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi) Restatement of prior year’s to reclass value of reinsurance commission from Value of Future Expense to Value of Future Premiums.

This aligns with actual profit and loss premium and expense items.

Future insurance contract benefits include bonuses credited to insurance contract owners in prior years, but exclude current year

bonuses and future bonuses (shown in (iii)).

Future bonuses exclude current year bonuses.

Using the non-economic and economic assumptions relevant at previous reporting date. 

Using the non-economic assumptions relevant at previous reporting date with economic assumptions as per current basis. 

Statutory Funds

2021

Business valued using either a projection or accumulation method of future cash flows.
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12. EXPENSES 2021 2020

$'000 $'000

(a) Claims expense

Death and disability claims (984,251) (1,050,028)

Maturities (712) -

Annuities (31,221) (31,159)

Surrenders and terminations (1,080) (2,083)

Total claims expense (1,017,264) (1,083,270)

(b) Commission expenses

Acquisition expenses (45,320) (49,361)

Maintenance expenses (136,160) (135,038)

Total commission expenses (181,480) (184,399)

(c) Administration expenses

Other policy acquisition expenses (42,199) (78,976)

Other policy maintenance expenses (198,451) (145,868)

Investment management expenses (5,630) (7,023)

Total administration expenses (246,280) (231,867)

13. COMPENSATION OF AUDITORS

2021 2020

$ $

833,703 910,503 

Other regulatory and assurance services 84,297 84,456 

Other services 382,600 183,600 

Total other services 466,897 268,056 

Remuneration for Ernst & Young Australia audit or review of the financial reports 

of the Company*:

Remuneration for other services:

Statutory audit fees

Audit fees are paid by a related entity within the wholly owned group and subsequently recharged to the Company.

* Ernst & Young Australia (EY) replaced PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia (PwC) as the Auditor of the Company on 
27 July 2021. The 2021 fees were paid to EY and the 2020 comparatives were paid to PwC.

ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Expenses are charged to the Company by related parties Zurich Financial Services Australia Limited ("ZFSA") and

Zurich Services Australia Limited ("ZSA"), which act as service companies in managing expenses on the Company's

behalf.

Insurance contract expenses included in commission expenses and administration expenses amounted to $397,319,365

(2020: $425,799,041). 

Other policy maintenance expenses include provision additions of $422,654 (2020: provision releases of $21,400,000).

Refer to note 19 for further details. 
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14. INCOME TAX

Class of business %

Ordinary life insurance business 30

Complying superannuation 15

Current pension business Exempt

Non-complying superannuation 30

Immediate annuity business Exempt

Shareholder 30

2021 2020

$'000 $'000

(a) Analysis of income tax expense

Current tax expense

Current year (benefit)/expense 34,665 (50,677)

Adjustment for prior years (7,219) 1,516

Deferred tax (benefit)/expense

Origination and reversal of temporary difference 14,449 50,123

Income tax expense as shown in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 41,895 962

(b) Numerical reconciliation between tax expense and pre-tax net profit

Gain/(loss) before tax 86,464 (7,083)

Less: Policyholder income and contributions tax (30,691) (4,203)

Adjusted shareholder profit/(loss) before tax 55,773 (11,286)

Income tax on profit/(loss) before tax at tax rate of 30% (2020: 30%) 16,732 (3,386)

Income tax on policyholder returns and policyholder contributions tax 30,691 4,203

Decrease in income tax expense due to:

Fee income 1,691 (1,371)

Under provision in prior periods (7,219) 1,516

Income tax (benefit)/expense 41,895 962

The income tax expense of the Company has been determined after aggregating the various classes of business, each with different tax

rates. The statutory rates of taxation applicable to the taxable income of significant classes of business are as follows:
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14. INCOME TAX (continued)

2021 2020

$'000 $'000

(c) Deferred tax assets / liability

Net deferred tax asset / (liability)

Deferred tax asset 202,364 220,749 

Deferred tax liability (20,396) (24,703)

Net deferred tax asset / (liability) 181,968 196,046 

Net deferred tax asset / (liability)

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 196,046 246,169 

Movement for the year:

 Loss recovery of risk policy liabilities (20,293) (16,094)

 Unrealised gain on investments 9,898 (5,740)

 Provision movements (3,683) (28,289)

Carrying amount at end of the year 181,968 196,046 

(d) Tax consolidation legislation

15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2021 2020

$'000 $'000

Trade and other receivables 41,504 48,033

Intercompany receivable from head tax entity 47,820 77,649

Investment income accrued and receivable 8,805 9,301

Reinsurance recoverable on paid and outstanding claims 312,682 310,610

Outstanding premiums 66,858 88,098

Total trade and other receivables 477,669 533,691

ZFSA and the members of the tax consolidated group implemented the tax consolidation legislation on 1 October 2003. The Company

joined this tax consolidated group on 1 June 2019. The accounting policy in relation to this legislation is set out in Note 1E(e).

The net deferred tax asset in the year ended 31 December 2021 includes the tax on loss recognition of $177,299,428 (2020:

$197,592,774).
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS

2021

Fair value 

through  

profit or loss

Amortised

cost Total

$'000 $'000 $'000

Financial assets:

Term deposits 165,000 12,000 177,000

Debt securities 2,134,681 - 2,134,681

Units in unit trusts 1,619,932 - 1,619,932

Loan to ultimate parent entity - 80,000 80,000

Total financial assets 3,919,613 92,000 4,011,613

2020

Fair value 

through 

profit or loss

Amortised

cost Total

$'000 $'000 $'000

Financial assets:

Term deposits 845,350 291,500 1,136,850

Debt securities 1,365,638 - 1,365,638

Units in unit trusts 1,585,664 - 1,585,664

Other investments - - -

Total financial assets 3,796,652 291,500 4,088,152

17. FAIR VALUE

(a) Classification of financial assets and liabilities

ASSETS

Fair Value

$'000

Carrying 

Amount

$'000

Fair Value

$'000

Carrying 

Amount

$'000

Cash and cash equivalents 508,229 508,229 583,811 583,811

Financial assets:

Term deposits 165,000 165,000 845,350 845,350

Debt securities 2,134,681 2,134,681 1,365,638 1,365,638

Units in unit trusts 1,619,932 1,619,932 1,585,664 1,585,664

Financial assets 4,427,842 4,427,842 4,380,463 4,380,463

LIABILITIES

Investment contract liabilities 1,390,907 1,390,907 1,480,708 1,480,708

Financial liabilities 1,390,907 1,390,907 1,480,708 1,480,708

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, together with the carrying amount shown in the Statement of

Financial Position, are as follows:

The estimated fair values correspond with the amounts at which the financial instruments could be traded at the Statement of

Financial Position date between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arms-length transaction. The best evidence of fair value is a

quoted price in an active market. Accordingly, wherever possible fair value is based on quoted market prices for the financial

instrument. In the event that there is no active market for the instrument, fair values are based on present value estimates or other

market accepted valuation techniques.

2021 2020
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17. FAIR VALUE (continued)

(a) Classification of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Sensitivities of fair values

(b) Fair value hierarchy

Level 1 – “Quoted market price”

Level 2 – “Valuation technique using observable inputs”

Level 3 – “Valuation technique using non-observable inputs”

This category comprises financial instruments that are valued using valuation models that use data inputs for the asset or liability

that are not based on observable market data and hence should be derived using professional judgement.

This category comprises financial instruments that are valued using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical

assets. The reported value is a function of the quoted price multiplied by number of units held, with no valuation adjustments.

This category comprises financial instruments that are valued using conventional valuation models based on data inputs (or

components of the overall value), other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable in the market place.

Level 2 inputs could also be observable for the asset, either directly or indirectly through corroboration with observable market

data (market-corroborated inputs). 

If the asset has a specified (contractual) term, a Level 2 input must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or

liability. An adjustment to a Level 2 input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety might render the

measurement a Level 3 measurement, depending on the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the inputs used to determine

the adjustment fall.

The fair value of units in unlisted unit trusts reflect the redemption price which reflects the exit price as published by the

Responsible Entities quoted at the Statement of Financial Position date.

The categories of the fair value hierarchy are defined as follows:

In respect of the valuation component where market observable data is not available, the fair value is determined using data

derived and extrapolated from market data and tested against historic transactions and observed market trends. These valuations

are based upon assumptions established by application of professional judgement to analyse the data available to support each

assumption. Changing the assumptions changes the resulting estimate of fair value. The valuation models incorporate the impact

of factors that would influence the fair value determined by a market participant.

Reasonably likely changes in the assumptions used in the valuation techniques not supported by recent market transactions would

not have a significant impact on net profit.

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs that reflect the reporting entity’s own assumptions about the assumptions market

participants would use in pricing the asset (including assumptions about risk) developed based on the best information available

in the circumstances. Assumptions about risk include the risk inherent in a particular valuation technique used to measure fair

value (such as a pricing model) and/or the risk inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique.

The majority of valuation techniques employ only observable market data, however, for certain financial instruments the fair value 

cannot be determined with reference to current market transactions or valuation techniques whose variables only include data

from observable markets.

The fair value of debt securities reflect the bid price at the Statement of Financial Position date. Where interest bearing deposits

are not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined through reference to the expected recoverable amount.
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17. FAIR VALUE (continued)

(b) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Assets

Financial assets:

At fair value through profit or loss:

Term deposits 165,000 - - 165,000

Debt securities - 2,134,681 - 2,134,681

Units in unit trusts - 1,619,932 - 1,619,932

Total assets 165,000 3,754,613 - 3,919,613

Liabilities

At fair value through profit or loss:

Investment contract liabilities - 1,390,907 - 1,390,907

Total liabilities - 1,390,907 - 1,390,907

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Assets

Financial assets:

At fair value through profit or loss:

Term deposits 845,350 - - 845,350

Debt securities - 1,365,638 - 1,365,638

Units in unit trusts - 1,585,664 - 1,585,664

Total assets 845,350 2,951,302 - 3,796,652

Liabilities

At fair value through profit or loss:

Investment contract liabilities - 1,480,708 - 1,480,708

Total liabilities - 1,480,708 - 1,480,708

(c) Movement in Level 3 Assets invested in unlisted unit trusts

There were no Level 3 assets as at 31 December 2021 (2020: nil). 

Fair value at 31 December 2020

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of fair value hierarchy:

There were no movements between Level 1 and Level 2 assets.

Fair value at 31 December 2021
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18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 2021 2020

$'000 $'000

Trade creditors 119,588 129,800

Policy claims in process of settlement 421,148 425,743

Total trade and other payables 540,736 555,543

19. PROVISIONS

Remediation provisions 56,649 71,955

Total provisions 56,649 71,955

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 71,955 166,338

Additions/(releases) during the year 423 (21,686)

Amounts used during the year (15,729) (72,697)

Carrying amount at end of the year 56,649 71,955

20. SHARE CAPITAL

2021 2020 2021 2020

Number of shares Number of shares $'000 $'000

Ordinary shares

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 306,346,057 211,346,057 1,314,409 1,219,409 

Issued during the year:

Issued at $1 per share 30,000,000 95,000,000 30,000 95,000 

Carrying amount at end of the year 336,346,057 306,346,057 1,344,409 1,314,409 

ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company's capital resources constitute shareholders' equity, being share capital, reserves and retained earnings. The following 

table shows movement in issued and paid up capital during the financial year:

The Company does not have authorised share capital or par value in respect of its issued Ordinary shares.

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at

shareholders meetings. Holders of preference shares are entitled to receive quarterly dividends at a prescribed rate of interest subject

to company directors approval. Preference shareholders are not entitled to vote at ordinary shareholder meetings. 

In the event of winding up of the Company, the shareholders rank after policyholders and creditors and are fully entitled to any

proceeds of liquidation. 

The Company has met the externally imposed capital requirements at all times during the current and prior periods.

Under LPS110, the Company is required at all times to have an adjusted paid up share capital of at least $10 million or a higher

amount as specified by the regulations.  
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21. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT 2021 2020

$'000 $'000
(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and cash equivalents 508,229 583,811

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 508,229 583,811

(b)

2021 2020

Note $'000 $'000

Profit from ordinary activities after income tax expense 44,569 (8,045)

Change in fair value of financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss 37,129 6,531

Dividends and distributions reinvested - -

Change in assets and liabilities

Change in trade and other receivables 56,022 (49,288)

Change in insurance contract liabilities ceded (184,793) (37,125)

Change in trade and other payables (14,807) 92,183

Change in provisions (15,306) (94,383)

Change in unvested policyowner benefits 92 (1,391)

Change in deferred tax assets / liabilities 14,078 50,124

Change in insurance contract liabilities 7,825 44,137

Change in investment contract liabilities 106,092 55,482

Deposit premiums recognised as change in investment contract liabilities 38,845 29,577

Withdrawals recognised as change in investment contract liabilities (221,132) (227,243)

Fees recognised as change in investment contract liabilities (13,606) (15,833)

Net cash flows used in operating activities (144,992) (155,274)

(c) Non cash financing and investing activities

- -

Total non cash financing and investing activities - -

Reconciliation of the profit from ordinary activities after income tax expense to the net cash flows from operating 

activities

Dividends and distributions
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

22. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2021

Net amount

$'000

Receivables from reinsurers 229,266 

Payable to reinsurers - 

2020

Receivables from reinsurers 213,367 

Payable to reinsurers - 

23. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a)

(b)

Paul Bedbrook (Chairman) (appointed 31 May 2019)

Gabrielle Trainor (appointed 7 January 2016)

Gavin Pearce (appointed 31 August 2011, resigned 28 May 2021)

Geoffrey Summerhayes (appointed 17 January 2022)

John Howell (appointed 31 May 2019, resigned 12 April 2021)

John Mulcahy (appointed 1 January 2020)

Justin Delaney (appointed 1 December 2019)

Nicolette Rubinsztein (appointed 1 April 2017)

Tulsi Naidu (appointed 1 January 2022)

Transactions with key management personnel

2021 2020

$ $

Short-term employee benefits 1,808,964 2,190,557

Share-based payments 783,807 513,906

Termination benefits 129,994 -

2,722,765 2,704,463

Immediate and ultimate controlling entity

The immediate parent entity is OnePath Life Australia Holdings Pty Limited, whose ultimate parent entity in Australia is

Zurich Financial Services Australia Limited ("ZFSA"). ZFSA produces consolidated financial statements available for

public use. The ultimate parent entity is Zurich Insurance Company Limited ("Zurich Group") which is incorporated in

Switzerland.

The directors also provide services to the immediate parent and a number of fellow subsidiary undertakings and are paid

for these services by the immediate parent. It is not practical to apportion these emoluments received and therefore they

are not disclosed in respect of any directors in these financial statements.

The key management personnel (“KMP”) are all the directors of the Company and their compensation is provided by the

ultimate parent entity, ZFSA. The total of this compensation is as follows:

The directors of OnePath Life Limited during the year up to the date of this report are:

Comparative information has been restated to align with current year calculations.

Financial assets and liabilities can be offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position when

there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or

realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The following table sets out financial instruments that can be

offset in the Balance Sheet. These assets and liabilities are currently not disclosed on a net basis.

Gross amount of financial 

instruments presented in 

the Statement of Financial 

Position

Financial instruments 

that can offset gross 

balance

$'000

83,416 

$'000

312,682 

310,610 

97,243 

(83,416)

(83,416)

(97,243)

(97,243)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

23. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

(c) The following related party transactions occurred during the period:

(1)

2021 2020

$ $

Assets/(Liabilities)

Reinsurance recoverable on paid and outstanding claims 134,545,389 141,754,320

Insurance contract liabilities ceded (782,141,124) (877,125,885)

Trade and other payables (31,901,826) (31,664,457)

Loan to ultimate controlling entity 80,000,000 -

Interest receivable on loan to ultimate controlling entity 55,027 -

Revenue/(Expenses)

Reinsurance recoveries revenue 216,286,036 274,959,982

Investment revenue 55,027 -

Outward reinsurance expense 384,344,207 380,602,749

Change in insurance contract liabilities ceded (94,984,761) (26,413,874)

(2)

2021 2020

$ $

Zurich Financial Services Australia Limited 102,163,932 101,729,555

Zurich Services Australia Limited 56,124,231 84,691,774

2021 2020 2021 2020

$ $ $ $

OnePath General Insurance Pty Limited 307,598 3,826,022 - -

Zurich Financial Services Australia Limited 46,732,653 70,830,397 - -

Zurich Services Australia Limited - - (329,702) (40,000)

Zurich Global Investment Management - - - (254,245)

The directors of OnePath Life Limited during the year up to the date of this report (continued)

Transactions between the Directors and their related parties and the parent entity, ZFSA during the financial periods were in the nature

of normal financial services transactions. These transactions occurred on an arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms and

conditions no more favourable than those given to other employees or customers and were domestic in nature.

The amount disclosed above reflects the total compensation paid/attributable to the KMP in their duties as employees of the parent

entities and or directors of various entities. The executive directors' compensation is not able to be allocated to the individual entities

whose affairs they manage or control.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

Transactions with the ultimate parent entity, Zurich Group

Transactions with the ultimate parent entity, Zurich Group and its related parties within the wholly own group are shown below:

During the course of the financial year, the Company held balances and conducted transactions with the ultimate parent entity as

shown below:

Transactions with related parties within the wholly owned group 

The Company has been charged with management fees for services rendered by the following related entities and has balances

outstanding at year end as shown below. Management fees are at normal commercial terms and conditions.

Management expenses

PayablesReceivables 

OnePath Life Limited is part of the ZFSA tax consolidated group. There have been no guarantees given or received. No

outstanding amounts have been written down or recorded as allowances, as they are considered fully collectible.

The outstanding balances with related parties within the wholly owned group comprise of the amounts below:

Entities within the group charge/receive management fees, including audit fees, and services rendered. Management expenses

charged by the group to the company are at normal commercial terms and conditions. 

#
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

24. CONTROLLED ENTITIES

(a) Controlled unit trusts

Name 2021 2020

% %

Balanced Trust Australia 76.5% 78.7%

ANZ OA OnePath Australian Share Trust Australia 83.6% 85.3%

OnePath Diversified Fixed Interest Trust Australia 65.6% 67.3%

OnePath Sustainable Investments - Australian Share Trust Australia 61.3% 65.2%

OnePath Wholesale Capital Stable Trust Australia 91.0% 90.9%

ANZ OA OnePath Managed Growth Trust Australia 81.0% 82.2%

OnePath Capital Guaranteed Trust Australia 100.0% 100.0%

25. DISCLOSURES ON ASSET RESTRICTIONS

26. FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

The Company does not have financing arrangements or facilities available at 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

27. COMMITMENTS

28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

29. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Investments held in the Statutory Funds can only be used within the restrictions imposed under the Life Act. The main restrictions

are that the assets in a fund can only be used to meet the liabilities and expenses of that fund, to acquire investments to further the

business of the fund or as distributions when solvency requirements are met, whilst the shareholder can only receive a distribution

when the higher level of capital adequacy requirements are met.

There was no capital or lease commitment at 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

The Company may from time to time be exposed to contingent liabilities and potential claims in respect of the activities of the

Company. As at the date of this report, the Company has $15,992,479 of contingent liabilities (2020: $18,806,825). These

contingent liabilities relate to legal action brought against the Company and from possible remediation arising from the Company’s

activities, the outcomes and costs of which remain uncertain.

There have been no significant events from 31 December 2021 to the date of signing this report.

ENTITY OWNERSHIP

ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To back investment contract liabilities, the Company invests in managed investment schemes domiciled in Australia. The following

entities are controlled by the Company:

Country of 

Incorporation
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

(a)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(b)

Sydney,  23 March 2022

in the directors' opinion, the financial statements and notes to the financial statements of the Company have been prepared in

accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,  including that:

they comply with applicable Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001;

ONEPATH LIFE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' DECLARATION

The directors of OnePath Life Limited  ("the Company") declare that:

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

they give a true and fair view of the Company's financial position as at 31 December 2021 and of its performance as

represented by the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period ended on that date; and

the financial statements and notes to the financial statements of the Company comply with International Financial

Reporting Standards as described in note 1A(a); and

in the directors' opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they

become due and payable.
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P J Bedbrook

Chairman

N L Rubinsztein

Director
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of OnePath Life Limited   

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of OnePath Life Limited (the Company), which comprises the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ 
declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Company is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 

a. Giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2021 and of its 
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and 

b. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information is the directors’ report 
accompanying the financial report. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

► Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

► Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  

► Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  

► Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

► Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
 
 
 
 
 
David Jewell 
Partner 
Sydney 
23 March 2022 
 
 
 




